

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/addr



# An emerging focus on lipids in extracellular vesicles

# Tore Skotland<sup>a</sup>, Krizia Sagini<sup>a</sup>, Kirsten Sandvig<sup>a,b</sup>, Alicia Llorente<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, Oslo University Hospital, The Norwegian Radium Hospital, 0379 Oslo, Norway <sup>b</sup> Department of Biosciences, University of Oslo, 0316 Oslo, Norway

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 18 November 2019 Received in revised form 2 February 2020 Accepted 5 March 2020 Available online 7 March 2020

Keywords: Cellular membranes Exosomes Extracellular vesicles Lipids Lipidomics Secretion Vesicular transport

# ABSTRACT

Extracellular vesicles contain a lipid bilayer membrane that protects the encapsulated material, such as proteins, nucleic acids, lipids and metabolites, from the extracellular environment. These vesicles are released from cells via different mechanisms. During recent years extracellular vesicles have been studied as possible biomarkers for different diseases, as biological nanoparticles for drug delivery, and in basic studies as a tool to understand the structure of biological membranes and the mechanisms involved in vesicular trafficking. Lipids are essential molecular components of extracellular vesicles, but at the moment our knowledge about the lipid composition and the function of lipids in these vesicles is limited. However, the interest of the research community in these molecules is increasing as their role in extracellular vesicles is starting to be acknowledged. In this review, we will present the status of the field and describe what is needed to bring it forward.

© 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

# Contents

1.	1. Introduction														
	1.1.	Extracellular vesicles	309												
	1.2.	Lipids in cellular membranes	309												
	1.3. The asymmetry of cellular membranes														
2. Methodological aspects															
	2.1. Methodological aspects in the preparation of EVs														
	2.2.	Pre-analytical considerations for lipid analysis	311												
	2.3.	Lipid analyses of EVs and evaluation of results	311												
3.	Lipid	composition of EVs	312												
	3.1.	Lipid composition of EVs released by cells in vitro	312												
	3.2.	Lipidomic studies of EVs released in vivo or from tissues	314												
	3.3.	BMP and PIPs in EVs													
	3.4.	4. Distribution of CHOL and PS in the membrane leaflets of EVs													
	3.5.	Lipid species in EVs.	315												
4.	Role o	of lipids in EV formation and function	315												
	4.1.	Role of lipids and lipid modifying enzymes in the formation and release of EVs	315												
		4.1.1. Phospholipids	316												
		4.1.2. Sphingolipids	316												
		413 Cholesterol	317												
	10	Constitution of EV as affort on linid composition in colle	217												
	4.Z.		) I /												

*Abbreviations*: BMP, bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate; CE, cholesterol ester; CHOL, cholesterol; CL, cardiolipin; Cer, ceramide; DAG, diacylglycerol; ESCRT, endosomal sorting complex required for transport; EVs, extracellular vesicles; ILV, intraluminal vesicles; MAG, monoacylglycerol; mβCD, methyl-β-cyclodextrin; MVB, multivesicular body; MS, mass spectrometry; PA, phosphatidic acid; PC, phosphatidylcholine; PE, phosphatidylethanolamine; PI, phosphatidylinositol; PI3P, Phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate; PI(3,5)P<sub>2</sub>, phosphatidylinositol-3,5-bisphosphate; PI3K, phosphoinoside 3-kinase; PIPs, phosphoinositides; PLD2, phospholipase D2; PS, phosphatidylserine; S1P, sphingosine 1-phosphate; SM, sphingomyelin; SMase, sphingomyelinase; SphK, sphingosine kinase; TAG, triacylglycerol; TLC, thin layer chromatography.

\* Corresponding author at: Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, Oslo University Hospital, The Norwegian Radium Hospital, 0379 Oslo, Norway.

*E-mail address:* Alicia.Martinez.Llorente@rr-research.no (A. Llorente).

#### https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2020.03.002

0169-409X/© 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

5.	Clinical uses of EVs													
	5.1. The use of lipids in EVs as biomarkers													
	5.1.1. Lipids in urinary EVs as biomarkers													
	5.1.2. Lipids in EVs from other biofluids as biomarkers													
5.2. EVs in drug delivery														
6.	6. Conclusion and future perspectives													
Ack	Acknowledgements													
References														

## 1. Introduction

### 1.1. Extracellular vesicles

The ability of cells to secrete vesicles surrounded by a lipid bilayer appears to be ubiquitous since this process has been observed in animals, bacteria and plants [1]. The scientific community agrees to a large extent that these vesicles should be referred to as extracellular vesicles (EVs) [2,3]. During the last 10 years the interest in these vesicles has boosted due to their role in intercellular communication, in cellular disposal, and as a potential source of biomarkers and drug carriers [4–9] (Fig. 1).

There are different populations of EVs that overlap to some extent in physical characteristics (size, density), cellular origin, molecular composition and/or function [10]. Traditionally, it has been common to separate EVs in exosomes, microvesicles and apoptotic bodies based on their origin and mechanism of formation. The endocytic activity of the cell generates endosomes. These endosomes transform during a process of maturation in multivesicular bodies (MVBs), also called late endosomes, by invagination of the endosomal limiting membrane and the formation of intraluminal vesicles (ILVs). MVBs can then be directed to lysosomes for degradation or to the plasma membrane, where after a fusion event release their vesicles, known then as exosomes, to the extracellular environment (Fig. 1). In contrast, microvesicles bud directly from the cell membrane (Fig. 1). Moreover, cells undergoing apoptosis can also form large (over 1000 nm in diameter) EVs called apoptotic bodies [11]. Exosomes and microvesicles have been considered to have different sizes: exosomes being the smallest ones (30-150 nm in diameter), and microvesicles being the largest ones (100-1000 nm in diameter) [12]. These two EV populations were earlier separated by centrifugation at 10,000 g (microvesicles) and at 100,000 g (exosomes) [13,14]. However, recent studies have challenged this picture. For example, it has been suggested that a population of microvesicles may also be pelleted at 100,000 g [15], and that the 100,000 g pellet can also contain other structures, for example lipoproteins or material resulting from the fusion of amphisomes or autophagosomes with the plasma membrane (Fig. 1) [16,17]. Moreover, classical exosome markers have also been detected in other types of EVs [18].

Since at the moment there is not any good method to achieve a complete separation of EVs based on their mechanism of formation, it has been suggested that they could be classified based on their size as large and small EVs [2,18], or that the term exosomes should be used to name small vesicles originating both from MVBs and the plasma membrane [19]. One would expect that vesicles originating from the plasma membrane by endocytosis and being formed as ILVs within MVBs before being excreted from cells, and small vesicles released directly from the plasma membrane should have several similarities in their protein and lipid content. We think it is important to make further efforts in developing isolation and analytical methods that allow the characterization of these vesicle populations as precisely as possible, and discriminate between the various types of EVs. This is essential in order to understand the mechanisms involved in the release of different types of EVs from cells and their specific functions. By giving the same name to vesicles of different origin, one may simplify the publication of a given data set, but at the same time delay the progress of the field. In the present article, we mainly keep the nomenclature used by the authors of the publications we refer to.

### 1.2. Lipids in cellular membranes

Cells contain several thousands of lipid species, and today it is possible to quantify approximately 1000 of these in a sample by using mass spectrometry (MS) [20–22]. The different structures of lipids are used to group them into different classes, e.g. glycerophospholipids, sphingolipids and cholesterol (CHOL), and variations in the number of carbon atoms and double bonds give rise to different species within a lipid class (Table 1 and Fig. 2). Although most glycerophospholipids contain ester-bound fatty acyl chains, ether-linked hydrophobic chains also are common in all tissues [23-25], but ether lipids have received much less attention than the acyl-containing phospholipids. The fatty acyl groups in mammalian phospholipids often contain 16 or 18 carbon atoms either with zero or a few double bonds in cis configuration, and the known unsaturated fatty acyl groups of these phospholipids are 16:1, 18:1, 18:2 and 18:3. For some phospholipid classes also longer and polyunsaturated fatty acyl groups such as C20:4 (arachidonic acid) and C22:6 (docosahexanoic acid; DHA) are common in the sn-2 position [26].

Glycerophospholipids are synthesized by addition of fatty acids to glycerol, whereas sphingolipids are synthesized in a different way starting with serine. Sphingolipids are composed of a sphingosine base and an N-amidated fatty acyl group, where the N atom originates from serine (Fig. 2) [26,27]. The distribution of the N-amidated fatty acyl groups of sphingolipids, and especially of glycosphingolipids, is very different from that of glycerophospholipids, as the N-amidated fatty acyl groups often have a "bimodal" species distribution with mainly N-amidated C16:0 as the shortest species and C22-C24 as the longest species [28–31]. In the cell lines we have analyzed, the major acyl groups of the glycosphingolipid species are C16:0, C24:0 and C24:1 [32,33]. Remarkably, C24:1 is the main unsaturated N-amidated fatty acyl group that is present in glycosphingolipid species (this species may constitute more than 50% in some classes).

Although the reason for such a bimodal distribution is not known, a possible explanation is that C16 and C18 hydrophobic chains are able to reach approximately to the middle of the membrane bilayer, whereas C24 chains should be able to reach deeper into the opposite layer and thus give a stronger interaction between the two membrane leaflets [34].

#### 1.3. The asymmetry of cellular membranes

The cellular membrane bilayers have an asymmetric distribution of lipids in the two leaflets. This asymmetric distribution is best studied for the plasma membrane, where almost all sphingolipids and phosphatidylcholine (PC) are present in the outer leaflet, whereas almost all the other phospholipids are present in the cytosolic leaflet, i.e. phosphatidylserine (PS), phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) and phosphatidylinositol (PI). The distribution of CHOL in the plasma membrane has been a subject of debate for a long time, and this issue is discussed later. The intracellular distribution of lipids has also been investigated for many years, including the estimation of the amount of the different



Fig. 1. EVs and EV-based model of cell-to-cell communication. Exosomes are released after fusion of multivesicular bodies (MVBs) with the plasma membrane, and microvesicles by direct budding from the plasma membrane. EVs can function as trash cans to remove unwanted material from donor cells, and in intercellular communication by binding to the plasma membrane and/or being taken up by recipient cells. Several studies indicate that organelles of the authophagy pathway (amphisomes, autophagosomes) also can fuse with the plasma membrane and release their material to the extracellular environment.

classes found in various intracellular membranes [20]. It should be mentioned that it is still not possible to isolate different intracellular vesicles/membranes from mammalian cells with a sufficient degree of purity to obtain good data for their lipid composition. Thus, there is still much to learn about the intracellular distribution of the different lipid classes, including the amounts of the various species that are present in the different intracellular membranes. For more information about the diversity of lipids in cellular membranes we refer to a recent review by Harayama and Riezman [26]. Although some EVs have been shown to contain internal membrane structures in their lumen by electron microscopy, most of them only contain one lipid bilayer [35,36]. EVs are therefore very interesting to study in order to learn more about the structure and composition of biological membranes. Due to their mechanism of formation, the distribution of lipids in the outer and inner membrane leaflet of exosomes is expected to be similar to the plasma membrane.

#### Table 1

Most common lipid classes in biological membranes.

Lipid class/abbreviation	R1	R2	Headgroup					
Phosphatidylcholine/PC	FA <sup>a</sup>	FA	Choline					
Lysophosphatidylcholine /LPC <sup>b</sup>	FA	Н						
Ether-linked PC: PC O, PC P <sup>c</sup>	Alkyl, alkenyl	FA						
Phosphatidylserine/PS	FA	FA	Serine					
Phosphatidylethanolamine/PE	FA	FA	Ethanolamine					
Phosphatidylinositol/PI	FA	FA	Inositol					
Phosphatidylglycerol/PG	FA	FA	Glycerol					
Phosphatidic acid/PA	FA	FA	Н					
Ceramide/Cer	LCB <sup>d</sup>	FA	Н					
Sphingomyelin/SM	LCB	FA	Phosphocholine					
Glycosphingolipids/GSL <sup>e</sup>	LCB	FA	Carbohydrates					
Cholesterol/CHOL	Structure shown	Structure shown in Fig. 1						
Cholesterol ester/CE	OH group of CHOL esterified with FA							

<sup>a</sup> FA = Fatty acyl chain.

<sup>b</sup> Lysolipids may be present in all classes listed in this table (except for cholesterol), but are for simplicity shown for PC only.

<sup>c</sup> Ether-linked lipids may be present in all glycerophospholipid classes shown (PC, PS, PE, PI, PG and PA), but are for simplicity shown for PC only. Ether lipids with an alkyl group are abbreviated as exemplified for PC O and ether lipids with an alkenyl group are abbreviated PC P (the alkenyl ether phospholipids are often called plamalogens).

<sup>d</sup> LCB: Long-chain base (see Fig. 1).

<sup>e</sup> GSLs contain many different classes with a large variation in the carbohydrate structures as shown in [31].

#### 2. Methodological aspects

#### 2.1. Methodological aspects in the preparation of EVs

EVs are isolated from cells grown in culture and from different biological fluids. Isolation of EVs from biological fluids is most challenging. For example, human serum/plasma contains lipoproteins that can coisolate with EVs [17], and these EVs can be released from different circulating and non-circulating cells. EVs can be purified using different methods based on their physical and/or molecular characteristics. All methods have advantages and disadvantages, and the choice of method will depend on the purpose of the study. In any case, it is important to characterize the samples as good as possible [2] and, as we write below, quantitative lipid analyses can give valuable information about the purity of EV preparations.

Sequential ultracentrifugation (100,000–120,000 g for at least 60 min) has been the most popular way to purify exosomes from conditioned media and biofluids, and recently it was demonstrated that further separation of EVs by density gradient centrifugation results in vesicles with different molecular content [15,18].

Several groups have used immunocapture methods to obtain EVs with a given epitope on the surface [15,18]. This may give a more homogenous preparation, but it may also exclude other vesicles having the same origin but containing other surface-bound proteins, or insufficient amount of the epitope to get captured. It is also important to consider whether vesicles with a different protein pattern and/or densities could originate from MVBs, and not only from different types of organelles/membranes [6]. In fact, although annexins, in particular Annexin A1, have recently been suggested as markers of small EVs released by budding from the plasma membrane, these proteins also have been associated with MVB/late endosomes [37].

Size exclusion chromatography is also used for the purification of vesicles. This method is useful for removal of soluble proteins in the EV preparations, but not to separate exosomes and microvesicles based on their size or to remove lipoproteins. This is because the size exclusion material with the largest pores (Sepharose CL-2B), according to the manufacturer, can separate proteins in the range 70–40,000 kDa, which fits with an exclusion of particles larger than 50–60 nm in diameter. Thus, if the use of these size exclusion columns results in separation of different types of EVs, it is probably due to different affinities between the column material and the vesicles, i.e. not due to a size-based separation. Moreover, one should also be aware of the risk of EVs being retained (lost) on the column when using chromatographic approaches.



Fig. 2. Illustration of some lipid structures. Cholesterol is shown up to the left. The other structures are from top to the bottom: TAG 16:0/18:1/16:0, the glycerophospholipid PS 18:0/18:1, the alkenyl ether glycerophospholipid (plasmalogen) PE P 18:0/20:4 and the sphingolipid SM d18:1/24:0. The sphingosine part of the SM molecule is marked in pink. The shown 18:1 and 20:4 structures are the acyl groups of oleic acid and arachidonic acid respectively. The structures have been made by using the structure drawing tools available at Lipid Maps (https://lipidmaps.org/).

Other methods for purification of EVs include field-flow fractionation techniques and ultrafiltration. Although ultrafiltration has the advantage of being rapid and does not require special or expensive instrumentation, it may cause problems due to adsorption of EVs to the filter, and also possibly cause vesicle deformation or even destruction. Several commercial kits are now available for isolation of EVs, e.g. based on polymer-based precipitation. In our opinion, kits should be used with care, especially when the basic principle and composition of the reagents in the kit are not commonly available. Moreover, information about how the kit may influence the different analytical methods often used to characterize EVs, such as MS, should be provided by the manufacturers. A more extensive description of these and additional methods for purification and analysis of EVs can be found in recent reviews [38,39].

#### 2.2. Pre-analytical considerations for lipid analysis

Numerous pre-analytical factors can influence lipid determinations, and they should be considered specifically for the type of sample that is going to be analyzed. It is then useful to have guidelines to minimize the impact of pre-analytical variables in lipidomic analyses [40]. As a general rule, pre-analytical parameters should be carefully reported for the correct interpretation of the results, and pre-analytical processing steps should be minimized to reduce error sources and variability. Regardless of sample origin, lipid extraction and storage conditions are important pre-analytical variables to be considered. Concerning lipid degradation, and in particularly the oxidation of unsaturated fatty acid chains, the addition of antioxidants and storage at low temperature (-80 °C or lower) and under an inert gas (e.g. argon) may limit lipid oxidation. So far the impact of different pre-analytical variables in the EV lipidome has not been thoroughly investigated, but it is expected that

many pre-analytical aspects that apply for lipid analyses of blood plasma [40] also apply for lipid analyses of EVs.

#### 2.3. Lipid analyses of EVs and evaluation of results

It has been proposed to use methods such as the sulfovanilin assay, fluorescent dyes that incorporate into membrane bilayers (e.g. dialkylcarbocyanins such as DiR) or Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy for quantification of total lipids in EVs [2]. Although these methods may be used to discriminate between EVs with a very different protein/ lipid ratio, they are not optimal for the quantification of the total amount of lipids in EVs, as their quantitative aspects are not well known. The sulfovanilin assay has been reported to detect CHOL and polyunsaturated fatty acids, but not saturated fatty acids [41], and to our knowledge there is no report describing how this reagent reacts with the many different types of lipids found in biological membranes. Furthermore, also the fluorescent dyes used to label lipid bilayers may give different signals depending on the membrane composition and lipid packing, and these dyes may also be differently distributed among cellular membranes [42].

Quantitative lipid data of vesicle preparations may also throw light on whether the lipid composition of a sample fits with the expected composition of cellular lipid bilayers, and whether they contain impurities, particles, or cellular organelles. For example, does the sample contain high amounts of lipids not expected to be found at the plasma membrane or in MVBs? In particular, lipids such as triacylglycerols (TAGs) and cholesterol esters (CEs) are mainly found in lipid droplets and in lipoproteins. Therefore, if a high content of these lipids is found in exosome preparations, it should be investigated if this is due to the presence of a subtype of vesicles/particles with a very high content of these lipids. This could possibly be tested by adding substances used to stain lipid droplets to the preparations [43]. Also a high content of cardiolipin (CL), a phospholipid located in the inner mitochondrial membrane, in EV samples suggests a contamination by mitochondria. In this context, we and others have earlier discussed secretory autophagy as a possible mechanism for release of EVs [44–47]. We believe secretory autophagy could be a likely mechanism for the release of lipids from lipid droplets (following lipophagy) or from mitochondria (following mitophagy). The different forms of lipophagy, including macrolipophagy (autophagy of whole lipid droplets) or microlipophagy (autophagy of parts of lipid droplets) are discussed in recent reviews [48,49]. The enzyme adipose triglyceride lipase is present on lipid droplets and catalyzes the hydrolysis of TAGs to diacylglycerols (DAGs) and fatty acids. The lipase is also able to hydrolyze DAGs to monoacylglycerols (MAGs) and fatty acids, although with a lower activity compared to the hydrolysis of TAGs. Thus, secretory autophagic vesicles containing lipid droplets may contain DAGs, MAGs and fatty acids as degradation products from TAGs. To our knowledge, degradation of CEs to fatty acids and CHOL is obtained by lysosomal acid lipases and by neutral lipases in the cytoplasm [50]. Recent reviews are also available for the different forms of mitophagy, a mechanism that captures nonfunctional mitochondria in autophagosomes for their degradation [51,52]. This process is initiated following the generation of different "eat me" signals on the mitochondrial surface both by posttranslational modification of proteins on the outer mitochondrial membrane, or following externalization of CL or proteins normally present on the inner mitochondrial membrane.

There are several issues that may impact the lipid composition of the EVs released from cells in culture. We have shown that different cell densities may change the lipid composition and intracellular trafficking in cells [32]. Furthermore, fetal calf serum contains lipid particles of a size similar to EVs, and the lipid composition of the growth media and lipids added to the media have been shown to affect the lipid content of cells and their released EVs [53,54].

In terms of the phospholipid composition of EVs, it should be considered that the most common fatty acyl groups (regarding number of carbon atoms and double bonds) are those mentioned above, and that fatty acyl groups with an odd number of carbon atoms are present in very limited amounts in human cells [55]. More information about fatty acids commonly available in biological samples can be found in the supplementary information of Bowden et al. [56] and in Wikipedia (https:// en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List\_of\_unsaturated\_fatty\_acids).

Although relative values of lipid classes/species can be used to demonstrate changes in the lipidome of EVs under different treatments/conditions, presentation of MS lipid data as quantitative data (e.g. as pmol/ µg protein) is more informative. This can today be obtained using modern MS equipment and internal standards for the various lipid classes. There are several excellent reviews describing how to perform quantitative lipidomic studies and what can be expected regarding sensitivity and reproducibility, including the need for using well controlled extraction methods [22,57–60].

The availability of quantitative data will give other researchers the possibility to evaluate the purity of the samples and other issues of interest in the dataset. This is especially important in studies reporting changes in the release of EVs from cells under conditions that affect cellular metabolism or intracellular transport in such a way that compensatory mechanisms may be induced.

#### 3. Lipid composition of EVs

In this section we discuss the lipid composition of EVs isolated from cell cultures and biofluids, including differences in the lipid composition between releasing cells and exosomes in cases where this is known. Recent advances in MS analyses have made it possible to obtain quantitative data for many lipid species, and we stress the importance of reporting as many lipid classes and species as possible. We will also discuss the distribution of the different lipid classes between the two membrane leaflets, and some lipid classes where more information is needed to confirm their presence in EVs.

#### 3.1. Lipid composition of EVs released by cells in vitro

The percentages of the different lipid classes found in exosomes based on 10 published exosome preparations are shown in Table 2 (reproduced from [47]), including the enrichment factors from cells to exosomes for 8 data sets. We here comment shortly on some of these data since we have discussed them extensively in earlier reviews [47,61]. Most of the studies show an enrichment from cells to exosomes of 2–3 times for CHOL, sphingomyelin (SM), glycosphingolipids and PS. Most exosome preparations also show a higher content of PC and PI in cells than in exosomes, whereas the content of PE is similar in both. The main results of the most extensive quantitative lipid data available are shown in the first column of Table 2; 22 lipid classes were quantified in PC-3 cells [33], but only 14 of them are included in the table. Moreover, addition of the ether lipid precursor hexadecylglycerol to PC-3 cells caused major changes in the lipid composition of both cells and exosomes [62]. Nevertheless, the specific enrichments of lipid classes from cells to exosomes under these conditions had many similarities to the ones previously observed [33,62]. Also another study of exosomes from PC-3 cells showed similar data for sphingolipids, but the glycerophospholipid classes were grouped together [63], such that it is not possible to compare these results with the other studies.

The data shown in parentheses in Table 2 were obtained more than 15 years ago using thin layer chromatography (TLC) analyses, where separation of all lipid classes was not obtained. Nevertheless, we find it important to mention that the study by Wubbolts et al. was the first to describe an enrichment of CHOL and sphingolipids in exosomes and highlight similarities between these vesicles and detergent resistant membranes, thus indicating that exosomes have lipid raft like properties [64]. Since PS, PC, PI and phosphatidic acid (PA) moved as one band on the TLC, it could not be stated if any of these classes were enriched in exosomes. It should also be noted that the authors did not detect Bis(Monoacylglyceryl)Phosphate (BMP; earlier called LysoBisPhosphatidicAcid, LBPA), an anionic phospholipid that is enriched in MVBs and ILVs, or the mitochondrial lipid CL in their preparations of exosomes.

The lipid composition of exosomes from Oli-neu cells [65], HepG2/ C3a cells [66] and PC-3 cells [33] show several similarities. However, exosomes released from Oli-neu cells have a higher enrichment of ceramide (Cer) and a lower enrichment of SM compared to exosomes from PC-3 cells. As the studies of exosomes from Oli-neu and HepG2/ C3a cells did not include measurement of CHOL, we have assumed that CHOL constitutes 43 mol% of the total lipid content in order to facilitate the comparison between data sets in the table.

The data shown for reticulocytes in Table 2 are from the very first study describing the lipid composition of exosomes and enrichments of lipids from their parent cells [67]. The enrichment factors for several of the lipid classes differ from those reported in other studies included in Table 2. This can perhaps be due to the very high levels of CHOL in reticulocytes, but it should also be noted that the internal vesicles fusing with the plasma membrane of these cells contained markers of early endosomes and not of late endosomes/MVBs [68].

The two last columns in Table 2 show data for exosomes released from platelets [69] and adipocytes [70]. These columns do not contain enrichments factors as the lipid content of the parent cells was not measured. Exosomes from adipocytes were reported to contain more SM and less PS than most of the preparations in Table 2. The study by Pienimacki-Roemer et al. contains interesting data about the lipid composition of exosomes and five other vesicle preparations (with diameters in the range 106–203 nm) released from platelets [69]. The authors concluded that the smallest vesicles were exosomes based on the high abundance of CD9, CD63 and ALIX. The authors reported a considerable variation in the lipid composition of exosomes (Table 2) and

Table 2	
Lipid composition of exosomes released by individual cell types (reprinted from	[47]).

Lipids	PC-3 cells [33]		PC-3 cells + HG [62]		Oli-neu cells [65]		HepG2/C3a [66]		B-lymphocytes [64]		Mast cells [96]		Dendritic cells [96]		Reticulocytes [67]		Platelets [69]	Adipocy tes [70]
	%	Factor	%	Factor	% <sup>b</sup>	Factor	% <sup>b</sup>	Factor	%	Factor	% <sup>e</sup>	Factor	% <sup>e,f</sup>	Factor	%	Factor	%	% <sup>b</sup>
CHOL	43.5	2.3	59	1.7	43	2.3	43	1.9	42.1	3.0	15	1.0	NR	NR	47	1.03	42.5	43
SM	16.3	2.4	9.1	2.0	8.2	1.5	9.7	10.8	23.0	2.3 <sup>c</sup>	12	2.8	20	2.2	8.4 <sup>c</sup>	1.31	12.5	12.5
PC	15.3	0.31	10.8	0.33	26.7	0.67	20	0.67	(20.3) <sup>d</sup>	(0.76) <sup>d</sup>	28	0.66	26	0.6	23.5	1.03	15.9	33
PS	11.7	2.1	6.9	1.2	14.9	3.0	15.6	2.4	(20.3) <sup>d</sup>	$(0.76)^{d}$	(16) <sup>d</sup>	$(1.2)^{d}$	(19) <sup>d</sup>	(1.6) <sup>d</sup>	5.9	0.92	10.5	1.1
PE	5.8	0.55	1.1	0.21	10.9	1.0	7.4	1.2	$(14.6)^{d}$	$(0.7)^{d}$	24	1.08	26	1.13	12.7	0.84	3.1	4.0
PE ethers	3.3	1.2	4.7	0.81					$(14.6)^{d}$	$(0.7)^{d}$							3.2	
DAG	1.5	1.5	1.1	0.92														0.8
PC ethers	0.81	0.40	0.7	0.28													1.4	
PG	0.17	0.17	0.1	0.07														
PA	0.16	1.8	0.1	0.33					(20.3) <sup>d</sup>	(0.76) <sup>d</sup>								
PI	0.13	0.13	0.3	0.16			4.1	0.18	(20.3) <sup>d</sup>	(0.76) <sup>d</sup>	(16) <sup>d</sup>	$(1.2)^{d}$	(19) <sup>d</sup>	(1.6) <sup>d</sup>	2.4	1.1	5.2	2.3
Cer	0.32	1.3	0.7	1.2	NR	3.3	0.63	2.0									0.40	0.2
HexCer	0.76	3.8	2.3	2.1	NR	2.0												0.02
LacCer	0.12	3.0 <sup>a</sup>	0.7	1.8														
Lipid analysis	MS		MS		MS		MS/GC		TLC		TLC/GLC		TLC/GLC		TLC		MS	MS
Exosome	SFM + SUC		SFM + SUC		SFM + SUC		uFCS		uFCS + SUC + SG		uFCS + SUC		uFCS + SUC		uFCS + SUC		SUC + IG	SFM + SUC
preparations <sup>g</sup>			+ SG $+$ SUC $+$ IG		+ immunocapture													

%: Percent of total lipid quantified. Factor: Factor of enrichment from cells to exosomes. NR: Not reported.

GLC: gas liquid chromatography; HexCer: hexosylceramide; LacCer: lactosylceramide; PG: Phosphatidylglycerol. HG. Hexadecylglycerol.

<sup>a</sup> Enrichments of other lipid classes are shown in Fig. 2B in reference [33].

<sup>b</sup> Percent CHOL was not reported; CHOL set to 43% to better compare the content of other lipid classes with the other data shown.

<sup>c</sup> Sum of SM and the glycosphingolipid GM3

<sup>d</sup> Sum for all classes shown in parentheses and having the same numbers.

<sup>e</sup> Recalculated from the authors' data.

<sup>f</sup> CHOL not reported; the sum for the other lipid classes is 100% (including LysoPC not included in this table).

<sup>g</sup> Exosome preparations: Methods used to isolate the exosome preparations. SFM: serum free medium; uFCS: ultracentrifuged fetal calf serum; SUC: sequential centrifugation; SG: sucrose gradient; IG: iodixanol gradient.

the other EV populations. This is in our opinion the best publication comparing the lipid compositions of exosomes and other EVs excreted from the same cells. The percentages of lipids found in exosomes and the range observed in the other vesicles (shown in parentheses) are: CHOL 42.5% (30.8–37.1%), SM 12.5% (6.0–8.0%), PS 10.5% (13.9–18.9%) and PI 5.2% (2.5–3.9%). Thus, the highest content of CHOL and SM were observed in exosomes. These data fit well with a report showing that exosomes released from BV-2 cells had a much higher lipid order in the bilayer than microvesicles and apoptotic bodies from these cells [71], and that exosomes from several cell lines were less sensitive to detergents than apoptotic bodies and microvesicles [72].

Zhang et al. reported the lipid composition of large exosome vesicles (90-129 nm), small exosome vesicles (60-80 nm) and exomers (nonmembranous particles with a diameter of approx. 35 nm) isolated from AsPC-1, MDA-MB-231 and B16-F10 cells using asymmetric flow field-flow fractionation [73]. The results show some peculiarities, for example, exosomes contain very high levels of PC, i.e. 80-90% of the lipids in exosomes from MDA-MB-231 and B16-F10 cells (CHOL not measured) and approx. 60% PC and 30% SM in exosomes from AsPC-1 cells. Furthermore, the authors found very high levels of TAGs, DAGs, MAGs and CL, i.e. lipids normally present in lipid droplets and mitochondria, and the lipid composition of the non-membranous particles (exomers) and the small and large exosomes was very similar. As we recently have discussed the importance of PS 18:0/18:1 in biological membranes, we checked the composition of PS species in these preparations [34]. In agreement with other studies, PS 36:1 was the dominant species in AsPC-1 cells but, surprisingly, the second most abundant species were PS 39:1 and PS 37:0. In the two other cell lines PS 36:1 was not among the 52 PS species reported. In these cell lines PS 35:0 was reported to be the dominant PS species, and these exosomes also contained PS 39:1, but not PS 37:0. To our knowledge, such large variations have not previously been reported for different cell lines. Moreover, it is surprising that the levels of phospholipids containing an odd number of carbon atoms are so high in light of the very small amounts of such fatty acids expected to be present in cells.

Additional studies of the lipidome of exosomes released by cells in vitro have been published, but the results were not presented in a way that showed the percentage of different lipid classes in EVs as shown in Table 2. For example, a total of 500 lipid species were identified in a lipidomic study of LIM1215 colorectal cancer cells, but the data were reported as relative abundance of lipid species only [74]. The remarkable high enrichment from cells to exosomes of TAG (24 times) and CE (5.7 times) should have been further investigated to exclude the possible presence of lipid droplets or other lipoparticles in the preparations. Haraszti et al. reported the enrichments of lipid classes from cells to exosomes in U87 glioblastoma cells, Huh7 hepatocellular carcinoma cells and human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells [75]. The results show a remarkable high enrichment of CL and no enrichment of SM from cells to exosomes for Huh7 and mesenchymal cells, whereas the opposite pattern was reported for U87 cells. PS was only slightly enriched from cells to exosomes in all three cell lines, whereas the content of PC and PI were higher in cells than in exosomes, more in agreement with the data shown in Table 2.

Brzozowski et al. quantified 187 lipid species in EVs (pelleted by centrifugation at 18,000 rpm for 3 h, g value not provided) from three prostate cell lines, i.e. RWPE1 (non-tumorigenic), NB26 (tumorigenic) and PC-3 (metastatic) [76]. The authors showed that fatty acids, glycerolipids and prenol lipids were more abundant in EVs from nontumorigenic cells, whereas sterol lipids, sphingolipids and glycerophospholipids were more abundant in EVs from tumorigenic and metastatic cells. It is difficult to compare these data with other published results because they are presented as relative abundance of lipid species within each lipid class. Also the presence of many lipid species with an odd number of carbon atoms and the absence of some of the most common SM species reported by other authors complicates the evaluation of these data.

Holopainen et al. recently reported significant changes in the lipid content of EVs released from mesenchymal stromal cells treated with polyunsaturated fatty acids, i.e. arachidonic acid (20:4), eicosapentoic acid (EPA; 20:5) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA; 22:6) [54]. Quantification of the lipid classes was not shown and CHOL was not measured, but the authors observed an enrichment in EVs of PS 36:1 and PE 36:1, similarly to what has been shown for exosomes released from PC-3 cells [33]. In another publication, the same group studied the lipidome of platelets and found that it was very different from the lipidome of mesenchymal stromal cells, especially higher amounts of PC, PE and PS with polyunsaturated fatty acyl groups (especially 38:4) were observed; the authors also reported changes in platelets and EVs during storage for up to 8 days [77]. Since studies from another group also have shown high amounts of polyunsaturated fatty acyl groups in blood cells [78,79], we wonder if a high content of polyunsaturated lipids in these cells contributes to giving them the flexibility required for passing through thin capillaries.

By using highly sensitive MS methods also lipids present in very low amounts in EVs can be measured. Thus, several hydroxylated metabolites of CHOL were measured in exosomes from MCF-7, MDA-MB-231 and HEK293 and serum samples. The highest levels were found for 27-OH CHOL in MCF-7, approx. 45 fmol/µg protein, which is approximately 0.01% of that reported for CHOL in exosomes [80].

Recently, Royo et al. investigated the lipidome of EVs released from a primary rat hepatocytes cells and a mouse hepatocyte progenitor cell line, MPL29 [81]. Although in these EV preparations the majority of EVs were around 150 nm in diameter (based on nanoparticle tracking analysis), the data show that the preparations also contained larger EVs (range 200-500 nm) than other preparations discussed in this review. Moreover, the EVs isolated from the rat hepatocytes showed a larger portion of vesicles of above 200 nm in diameter than the EVs excreted from MLP29 cells. The authors reported quantitative data for approximately 250 lipid species (CHOL and PS not reported). For MLP29 cells, each class of SM, PC, lysophosphatidylcholine and PC-ethers constituted approx. 12-13% of total lipids, and each class of PE, lysophosphatidylethanolamine, PE-ethers, PI and lysophosphatidylinositol constituted approx. 5% of the total lipids. Moreover, EVs released from the hepatocytes had a very high content of TAG (approx. 33% of total lipids) compared to 4% of TAG released from MLP29 cells. The authors also compared the mechanical stiffness of the two EV preparations by atomic force microscopy, and showed that EV from hepatocytes were softer (less stiff) and showed less resistance to mechanical distortion than EVs excreted from MLP29 cells.

Comparison of exosomes released from the apical and basolateral side of polarized cells has to our knowledge only been reported once [82]. The exosomes released from the apical side of polarized murine cortical collecting duct principal cells were larger (148 nm) than those excreted from the basolateral side (100 nm), and three times more exosomes were reported to be excreted from the apical side. However, it is difficult to compare the lipid compositions of the two exosome preparations because the MS data obtained using either the negative or positive mode do not fit with each other. Also the presence of a very high content of CL (35% of the lipids in the exosomes excreted from the basolateral side), which is normally found in the inner membrane of mitochondria, can be an indication of the presence of other vesicles or particles in the exosome preparations.

#### 3.2. Lipidomic studies of EVs released in vivo or from tissues

Flaherty et al. reported that adipose tissue release "exosome-sized, lipid-filled vesicles" (diameter mean size 115–120 nm) that serve as a source of lipids for local macrophages [83]. The authors commented that "Standard purification strategies for exosomes proved inefficient, possibly because of the high lipid content; however using size fractionation columns and filtration, we were able to isolate EVs from adipose tissue". The results show that approx. 1% of the lipid content of adipose tissue from lean mice was released every day, whereas approx. 2% of the lipid was released per day from the adipose tissue of obese animals. The authors presented a model where a lipid droplet (surrounded by a phospholipid monolayer) fills the internal space of a vesicle with a

lipid bilayer. It is difficult to support this model in light of the lipid composition shown for the vesicle preparations, i.e. approx. 25% CHOL, 25% PC, 10% SM, 10% TAG, 10% MAG, 6% CE and minimal amounts of the lipid classes normally present in the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane and exosomes, such as PS and PE.

There are several studies describing lipid analyses of prostasomes, i.e. EVs found in seminal fluid; only in one study the lipid content was analyzed by MS [84]. In that study, the two human prostasome preparations (50 and 100 nm) investigated were shown to contain very high levels of sphingolipids compared to other EVs discussed here. There are also older reports of the lipid composition of prostasomes purified from human [85], horse [86] and boar [87] seminal fluid where TLC analyses (PS and PI were co-migrating) were used. The lipid composition of these EVs was more similar to those reported for other EVs. These prostasome studies have been discussed earlier [61].

We have reported quantitative data for 107 lipid species in EVs excreted in urine [88]. These EVs showed a remarkable high content of CHOL (63%), which is close to the maximum amount of CHOL that can be included in model membranes [89]. Moreover, it was surprising that PS 18:0/18:1 was the most abundant lipid species after CHOL, and that all PE species detected were identified as ether lipids. Comparison of the lipid composition of these EVs with several of the other preparations shown in Table 2 has been discussed earlier [61]. In addition, Singhto et al. reported recently the use of TLC coupled with MALDI-TOF-MS to describe different lipid profiles of urinary microvesicles and exosomes [90]. The authors showed that e.g. mannosyl-di-PI ceramides were only found in urinary microvesicles. However, it is difficult to evaluate the results of this study because these lipids are known to be found in fungi and not in mammals [91,92].

Finally, a lipidomic characterization of EVs from human serum was recently reported [93]. The authors did not present quantitative data that could be used to evaluate the purity of their preparations, but the very high amount of TAG species probably indicates the presence of lipoproteins. Moreover, it is surprising to find several unusual species in very high amount, such as CE 30:3 and phospholipid species containing 12:0, 14:0 and 14:1 in the samples (see discussion above and [56]).

#### 3.3. BMP and PIPs in EVs

It has been estimated that the anionic phospholipid BMP accounts for up to 15% percent of the total phospholipids in late endosomes, and it has so far not been reported to be present in other organelles [94]. BMP has been shown to be present in the membranes of ILVs, at least in some MVB populations [95]. This led to investigations of the possible presence of BMP in exosomes. Three studies have concluded that BMP is not present in exosomes, or at least not enriched in them [64,95,96] (for a discussion about this topic see [47]). Miranda et al. recently reported that BMP-enriched exosomes are released following inhibition of Vps34, a class III phosphoinoside 3-kinase (PI3K), but the absolute levels of BMP were not reported [97]. It would be interesting to quantify the amount of BMP in exosomes by MS, and to know to which extent this lipid is present in exosomes released by cells treated with drugs that impair lipid metabolism, intracellular transport or autophagy. It should also be mentioned that a gold-labeled antibody against BMP was used to detect BMP in MVBs/late endosomes many years ago [94] but, although this method is useful to visualize BMP in cells, it cannot be used for quantification.

As shown in Table 2, PI is present in exosomes, although in rather small amounts. Thus, it is an obvious question if also phosphorylated derivatives of PI (i.e. phosphoinositides, PIPs) are present in exosomes. Seven PIPs have been identified, and they can be converted into each other by phosphorylation or dephosphorylation of the 3-, 4- and 5hydroxyl group of the inositol head group by phosphoinositide kinases and phosphatases, respectively [98,99]. PIPs play important roles both as precursors for specific second messengers and by specifying organelle identity and regulating membrane dynamics. To our knowledge, there are no data published for PIPs in EVs. This may be due to the technological issues of using MS to measure PIPs. In fact, these lipids are often present in very small amounts, and different classes can have the same mass due to phosphorylation at different positions of the inositol head group. Thus, there are three classes of PIPs phosphorylated at one of the different OH groups (Phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate, PI3P; Phosphatidylinositol-4phosphate; and Phosphatidylinositol-5-phosphate) with the same mass, and also three classes of PIPs phosphorylated at two sites, i.e. phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate, phosphatidylinositol-3,5bisphosphate (PI(3,5)P2) and phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate, also having identical mass [100]. Since PIPs confer a unique molecular identity to the membranes of organelles and endocytic compartments, it is possible that exosomes and microvesicles could be identified by specific PIPs [99].

#### 3.4. Distribution of CHOL and PS in the membrane leaflets of EVs

As mentioned above, a very high level of CHOL has been found in several exosome preparations. This is important for the discussion about the distribution of CHOL in the leaflets of cellular membranes. Some authors report that CHOL is mainly present in the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane, while others report that CHOL is mainly present in the inner leaflet or more or less equally distributed among the two leaflets (see discussion in [101]). The very high levels of CHOL (40–60% of total lipids) reported for several exosome preparations are difficult to explain without having a high content of CHOL in both leaflets.

We have earlier discussed that we assume that most PS in newly excreted exosomes is located in the inner leaflet [47,61]. PS is known to be located in the outer leaflet of activated blood cells, apoptotic bodies and microvesicles released from the plasma membrane, where it functions as an "eat me" signal for macrophages [102]. As there is an increasing amount of evidence that exosomes can transfer signals to other cells, we think it is unlikely that exosomes contain PS in the outer leaflet, because they will then be rapidly removed from circulation. In our opinion, it is important to investigate if PS is present in the outer leaflet of various types of newly excreted EVs and, if this is the case, to estimate the percentage of vesicles that may contain PS on the surface. One should also test if more PS is exposed at the surface during storage as reported for platelets [103]. PS binding proteins e.g. Annexin A5 or lactadherin could be useful in these studies [103,104].

There are several recent publications of importance for this discussion. Wei et al. studied EVs (assumed to be a mixture of exosomes and microvesicles) released from hypoxic and nonhypoxic cells, and reported that PS was only exposed on the surface of EVs released from the hypoxic cells [105]. In addition, Lai et al. analyzed three different types of EVs (diameters in the range 50-100 nm), and the only preparation shown to bind Annexin A5 carried low or undetectable levels of the exosomal markers CD9, CD81, TSG101 and ALIX [106]. Gong et al. discussed different ways in which PS could be externalized [107]. Interestingly, the authors showed that cells having PS on the outer leaflet were able to remove it by releasing PS-containing plasma membrane "bubbles" from the surface of otherwise intact cells. Moreover, these structures seemed to be largely devoid of cytosolic content (unlike apoptotic bodies), as evidenced by the absence of mCherry expressed in the cytosol. Budding from the plasma membrane has also been reported following PE exposure in the external leaflet due to loss of a flippase that translocates phospholipids from the outer to the inner leaflet [108]. For more information about enzymes being important for keeping the symmetry or making an asymmetric distribution of PS in membranes, i.e. flippases, floppases and scramblases, see [109,110].

In a very recent article several subtypes of tumor cell-derived EVs were shown to have different amounts of externalized PS [111]. The authors reported a PS-enriched subtype which, compared with exosomes,

was characterized by a larger size, a more negative zeta potential and lower abundance of canonical exosomal markers. By looking carefully into the images where PS was detected with gold labeling of the PSbinding protein lactadherin, gold particles are clearly present in this larger subtype of EVs, but only aggregates of gold particles not associated with vesicles were observed in these exosome preparations. Finally, in another very recent article, the authors used a new lipidprotein affinity based microfluidic device with Annexin A5 on the surface to pick up cancer-associated EVs from human plasma, as such EVs (or at least part of such EVs) are reported to have PS expressed on the surface [112].

Based on the results presented above, we conclude that more studies are needed to establish if PS is present in the outer leaflet of various EVs when they are secreted, and whether PS is translocated to the outer leaflet during storage.

#### 3.5. Lipid species in EVs

We have discussed earlier in much detail the enrichment of lipid species from PC-3 cells to exosomes excreted from these cells [61]. We will here just comment on the remarkable enrichment in exosomes of PS 18:0/18:1, and also the enrichment of PI, PE and DAG with the same fatty acyl groups. The lipid data published for exosomes excreted from PC-3 cells resulted in a molecular dynamic simulation study demonstrating strong interleaflet digitations between PS 18:0/18:1 and SM 24:0 in the presence of CHOL [33,113]. Recently we extended that discussion further in a perspective article about the importance of PS18:0/18:1 in biological membranes [34]. Interestingly, there are major similarities between the lipid composition of exosomes, HIV virus particles released from HeLa and MT4 cells and detergent resistant membranes, which are often used as models for lipid rafts. Those similarities include both the composition of lipid classes and lipid species [61]. To increase our knowledge about the lipid composition of cell membranes and the interactions between the two membrane leaflets, it will be helpful in future studies to include quantitative data for as many lipid species and classes as possible. This is important both in studies describing exosomes released from cells, and for studies of other EVs, virus particles, and detergent resistant membranes.

#### 4. Role of lipids in EV formation and function

# 4.1. Role of lipids and lipid modifying enzymes in the formation and release of EVs

As shown in Fig. 1, the two main cellular sites for the generation of EVs are the plasma membrane and the endosomal membrane. In both cases, the formation of vesicles requires membrane budding out from the cytosol by processes that involve interplay between lipids and proteins [114]. Moreover, there are indications for several mechanisms of EV formation both at the plasma membrane and at the endosomal membrane [6,12,44,115,116]. It also seems clear that cells can simultaneously secrete both types of EVs, but it can be expected that the percentage of each EV population will depend on the cellular physiological and pathological conditions. It has also to be considered that EV preparations may include material from lipid droplets and/or mitochondria, possibly due to the autophagy pathway, i.e. secretory autophagy.

In many of the studies where the mechanisms of biogenesis and release of EVs have been investigated, the focus has been on exosomes. The release of these vesicles implies more steps than the budding of microvesicles from the plasma membrane. In particular, exosome release requires the formation of ILVs in endosomes, the transport of MVBs to the plasma membrane and the fusion of the limiting membrane of MVBs with the plasma membrane. These steps probably require different molecular machineries than are not easy to differentiate. Thus, the role of specific molecules on the amount of released exosomes, without specifying the specific step that is affected, is commonly reported. Additional methods are therefore required, and recently a method to visualize the fusion of MVBs with the plasma membrane in real-time was developed [117]. When looking at the role of lipids in EV release one should consider not only their structural role in cellular membranes and how their metabolism can affect membrane fluidity/curvature, but also their possible role as signaling molecules. Interestingly, several of the studies presented below indicate that the levels or formation of the membrane lipids with the smallest head groups, Cer, DAG and PA, are important for the formation or release of EVs. Depending on their fatty acyl compositions these lipids may have a conical structure, with the head group being at the thinnest end of the cone, whereas the opposite will be true for most lysolipids [26,118].

Finally, in terms of EV trafficking, it should be mentioned that the lipid composition of EV membranes may play a role in conferring stability to these vesicles in different extracellular environments and/or to facilitate binding to or uptake into recipient cells.

#### 4.1.1. Phospholipids

Enzymes involved in the metabolism of glycerophospholipids or glycerolipids have been shown to play a role in the formation and release of exosomes. For example, phospholipase D2 (PLD2), an enzyme that removes part of the head group of phospholipids (mainly PC) producing PA, is required in MCF-7 cells for the formation of ILVs within a fraction of MVBs containing syntenin, and it has also been shown that its activity correlates with the amounts of exosomes released from RBL-2H3 cells [119-121]. In addition, Ghossoub et al. showed that the levels of PA in PLD2-depleted cells were reduced, and that these cells release exosomes with similar levels of SM, PC and PA compared to control cells, whereas the levels of PS, PE and PI were higher [119]. It is not clear how PLD2 controls the budding of ILVs into MVBs, but it should be noted that this enzyme, similarly to sphingomyelinase (SMase), reduces the head group size of membrane lipids. Another enzyme that generates PA from DAG, DAG kinase  $\alpha$ , has also been shown to inhibit the secretion of exosomes in T-lymphocytes, probably by reducing the formation of mature MVBs [121,122]. In a later study, the authors found that protein kinase D was the effector involved in the effect of DAG in MVB formation and release [123]. In terms of microvesicles, an old study showed that calcium-dependent increased formation of microvesicles in erythrocytes depends on the production of DAG [124].

PIPs play important functions in the endocytic pathway [99,125]. In particular, MVB morphogenesis requires PI3K activity, as suggested some years ago by the generation of vacuoles with a reduced number of ILVs in cells treated with wortmannin [126], an inhibitor of the enzyme [127]. Additional results showed that PI3K affected the recruitment of endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) proteins since wortmannin caused the dissociation of the ESCRT-0 protein Hrs from endosomes [128]. It should be noted that wortmannin has later been shown to target other PI3K than Vps34, the endosomal PI3K, and PI3K-dependent mechanisms such as autophagy [129,130]. However, other approaches to alter the levels of PI3P, such as inhibition of PI3K with the highly specific inhibitor SAR405, also support a role of the lipid in ESCRT recruitment and ILV formation [131]. It is possible that PI3P plays a role in exosome release by recruiting ESCRT proteins such as HRS. In fact, it has been shown that silencing of HRS reduced the secretion of EV-associated CD63 and major histocompatibility complex class II [132]. Exosome release has also been investigated in cells treated with wortmannin, but with different results [133,134]. This may be explained by nonselective effects of the drug, by the different cell types used in the studies and/or the methods used to measure exosome release. Furthermore, a recent study showed that VPS34-IN1, a newly developed and highly specific PI3K inhibitor [135], increased secretion of three EV markers (ALIX, Flotillin-1, and Flotillin-2) in primary cortical neurons, and the authors also observed that autophagy was impaired [97]. Further studies are then needed to investigate the role of PI3P in exosome release.

Concerning other PIPs, it has recently been shown that inhibition of the formation of  $PI(3,5)P_2$ , a PIP produced from PI3P by the action of the PIP kinase PIKfyve [136,137], increases exosome secretion [16]. Moreover, in cells with reduced PIKfyve activity the fusion of MVBs with lysosomes seems to be inhibited, and cells contain more MVBs with an increased number of ILVs [16]. The molecular mechanism is unclear, but it has been shown that  $PI(3,5)P_2$  can act as an agonist for the lysosomal  $Ca^{2+-}$  channel transient receptor potential mucolipin 1, and therefore the observed effect may be related to the impaired fusion of MVBs with lysosomes observed after reduction of the  $PI(3,5)P_2$  levels [138,139]. Interestingly, it has recently been shown that acid ceramidase, an enzyme that transforms Cer into sphingosine and fatty acids in lysosomes, also regulates this lysosomal  $Ca^{2+}$ -channel activity, the interaction of MVBs and lysosomes and exosome release in mouse podocytes [140].

It has also been shown that exosome release can be regulated by addition of the ether lipid precursor sn-1-O-hexadecylglycerol to PC-3 cells [62]. Interestingly, addition of the precursor changed the protein and lipid composition of the exosomes released by these cells [62]. The mechanism of this effect is not clear, but it could be related to alterations of membrane fusion events since ether lipids have been reported to be involved in membrane fusion [141].

#### 4.1.2. Sphingolipids

The sphingolipid Cer has often been associated to EV biogenesis and release. Cer is generated by de novo biosynthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum, by hydrolysis of SM via SMases and endosomes/lysosomes or through the so-called salvage pathway for sphingolipids [142]. Due to its complex generation and metabolism, it is difficult to discern if the effects observed by altering the levels of Cer are due to Cer itself or to the formation of other lipids. Lipidomic analyses would be very useful to interpret these results. Other important concern is that addition of Cer to cells is known to have toxic effects and induce necrosis or apoptosis in many cell types, and it may be difficult to know how these effects affect other cellular processes [143].

One of the first indications that lipids are important for exosome release was provided by Trajokovic et al. [65]. The authors reported that inhibition or siRNA-mediated depletion of neutral SMase resulted in reduced secretion of exosomes from Oli-neu cells, and suggested that the formation of cone-shaped Cer formed by removal of the large head group (phosphocholine) from SM could be the driver of the neutral SMase effect [65]. The effect of neutral SMase has been reproduced in several cell lines, but there are cell lines where exosome release is not affected by alteration of this enzyme, including our study in PC-3 cells [144–147]. It is not clear why this is the case. Interestingly, another type of SMase, the acidic SMase, seems to be required for the ATP receptor P2X<sub>7</sub>-dependent release of microvesicles from glial cells and from osteoblasts [148,149].

Other studies have investigated EV release in other situations that are expected to affect the levels of Cer. Increasing the levels of Cer either by addition of Cer 6:0 in multiple myeloma cells [150] or C16:0 in hepatocytes [151], or blocking the conversion of Cer to SM by addition of an inhibitor of sphingomyelin synthase in N2a cells and cortical neurons, promoted exosome secretion [152]. Moreover, it has recently been shown that addition of the saturated fatty acid palmitate (C16:0) induced lipotoxic ER stress leading to EV release in hepatocytes and that this process was dependent of the ER stress sensor IRE1 $\alpha$  and the Cer transport protein STARD11 [151,153]. Hirsova et al. also have investigated the regulation of exosome release by palmitate, and found that incubation of hepatocytes (primary and Huh7 cells) with palmitate increased the release of EVs compared with control cells [154]. We also have investigated the release of exosomes from PC-3 cells in conditions that are expected to affect the levels of Cer. However, in these cells exosome release was not affected by inhibition of de novo Cer synthesis formation by fumonisin B<sub>i</sub> or by inhibition of glucosylceramide synthase, i.e. the first enzyme in the synthesis of glycosphingolipids [146]. However, in the latter case the protein composition of the secreted exosomes was shown to be modified [146].

Cer can be metabolized in different ways, including its transformation into sphingosine and sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) by sequential activity of ceramidase and sphingosine kinase (SphK). SP1 is, similarly to Cer, recognized for their function in signaling [142]. SP1 receptors belong to the family of G protein-coupled receptors. Interestingly, Kajimoto el al. have shown that inhibitory G protein (Gi)-coupled S1P receptors on MVBs are constitutively activated through a constant supply of S1P in HeLa cells, and that this activation is required for cargo sorting into ILVs in MVBs destined to the plasma membrane to release their content [155]. In particular, the authors observed that exosomes released from cells depleted of S1P receptor or SphK isoform 2 contained less amount of CD63, CD81 and flotillin 2 than control cells, whereas the total number or size of exosomes was not changed. It is not clear yet how SphK is recruited to the MVB membrane or to which extent the sorting of other molecules is affected. In a follow up study, the authors investigated the mechanism required after S1P receptor activation, and found that it involved the  $G\beta\gamma$ -mediated regulation of the Rho family GTPases and F-actin formation [156].

Recently, Yuan *el al.* investigated the effect in exosome release of acid ceramidase, the hydrolase responsible for the degradation of Cer into sphingosine and free fatty acids within lysosomes [157,158]. The authors found by nanoparticle tracking analysis that acid ceramidase gene deletion in primary cultures of coronary arterial endothelial cells augmented the secretion of exosomes (50–150 nm vesicles). The authors suggested that this could be related to a reduction of lysosome-MVB interactions because in these cells there was a decreased colocalization of a MVB marker (VPS16) with a lysosomal marker (LAMP-1) compared to control cells [158].

In conclusion, these studies support a role of sphingolipids and several enzymes involved in their metabolism in EV release, although their role may be cell dependent and several mechanisms seem to be involved. For recent reviews about Cer and other sphingolipids in exosomes see [159,160].

#### 4.1.3. Cholesterol

EV membranes contain a high percentage of CHOL (Table 2), a lipid that increases membrane lipid order, prevents ion leakage and affects membrane fusion [161,162]. Several groups have investigated the potential role of this lipid in EV formation and release [163]. Several treatments and/or conditions that alter the CHOL levels in cells were used in these studies, such as methyl- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin (m $\beta$ CD), a cholesterolsequestering agent often used to reduce the CHOL levels of cellular membranes. However, high concentrations of this compound may also induce ion leakage and extract other lipids. In some studies, lack of leakage of cytosolic proteins such as lactate dehydrogenase has been used to conclude that there is no leakage across the plasma membrane. However, leakage of ions such as K<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> could still occur and cause large intracellular changes [164], and this should be evaluated. CHOL complexed with m $\beta$ CD can also be used to increase the cellular levels of CHOL [165]. Thus, restoring CHOL levels with m $\beta$ CD-CHOL after depletion with m $\beta$ CD can be used as a control. Alternative methods to reduce the CHOL levels, i.e. inhibition of the de novo CHOL synthesis, can also be useful [165]. It should be noted that conditions that lead to increased CHOL levels may perturb a number of cellular functions [166,167].

One of the first attempts to investigate the role of CHOL in exosome release was done with PC-3 cells [168]. A limited number of methods to quantify exosome release were available at that time, and changes in the levels of molecules expected to be in exosomes were often used as a readout of exosome release. The results of the study showed that the levels of caveolin-1 and LAMP-1 were increased in cells where the CHOL levels were reduced by approximately 40% by addition of m $\beta$ CD,

or by approximately 25% after treatment with lovastatin and mevalonate to inhibit the de novo CHOL synthesis [168]. In another study, cells treated with mBCD released exosomes (30,000 rpm pellet, g value not provided) with higher levels of the latent membrane protein 2A of Epstein-Barr virus, a protein that regulates virus pathogenesis in infected cells [169]. In this case the involvement of CHOL in the mBCD effect was supported by addition of CHOL to the medium to restore the levels of CHOL. It is also interesting that addition of CHOL (in complex with m $\beta$ CD) increased exosome release in Oli-neu cells (as measured by an increase of flotillin, ALIX and CD63) [170]. The same effect was observed when cells were treated with U18666A, a compound that prevents the action of the Niemann-Pick type C protein and in cells where this protein was depleted [170]. In both cases CHOL is trapped in late endosomes/MVBs. In addition, it has been reported that treatment with 5 mM mBCD reduced the ionophore-stimulated release of microvesicles in THP-1 cells by approximately 40% [171], but treatment of human erythrocytes with lower concentrations of mBCD had the opposite effect [172]. Further investigations to support the role(s) of CHOL in EV formation and release are needed.

As mentioned above, CHOL together with sphingolipids are the main constituents of specific membrane domains called rafts that have been related to several transport and sorting mechanisms [118,173]. Interestingly, it was reported some years ago that some molecules such as ganglioside GM1, the Src tyrosine kinase Lyn, flotillin-1, and stomatin are released to the extracellular medium via their association with lipid raft domains in exosomal membranes [174]. Other raft associated proteins as caveolin-1 and MAL have also been detected in exosomes [133]. The high content of CHOL and sphingolipids in exosomal membranes (Table 2) is in agreement with the presence of lipid rafts.

#### 4.2. Secretion of EVs: effect on lipid composition in cells

The biological roles of EVs can be mediated both by their ability to function as carriers to remove unwanted/toxic cellular material and/or to transfer molecules between cells. Concerning their role in waste disposal, exosomes have been implicated in the maintenance of CHOL homeostasis. This is mainly based on studies of the Niemann-Pick type C1 (NPC1) lysosomal storage disorder, where free CHOL and sphingolipids accumulate in endosomal and lysosomal compartments [175]. In particular, an increased exosomal CHOL release was found under conditions causing an intracellular accumulation of free CHOL [170]. In terms of transfer of lipids and lipid-metabolizing enzymes from cell-to-cell, it has been reported that EVs contain several bioactive lipids that may affect the behavior of recipient cells, and also enzymes responsible for the synthesis of these bioactive lipids. In this way EVs could act both as carriers for lipid mediators synthesized in releasing cells as well as induce production of lipids in recipient cells. Various studies have reported effects mediated by lipid or lipid-related enzymes enriched EVs. For example astrocytes release EVs enriched in several Cer species, and this has been suggested to play a role in the spreading of Alzheimer's disease [176]. In another study, Cer 24:1 was suggested as marker of aging as it was enriched in serum EVs from aged (75–90 years) compared to young (24–40 years) women. Moreover, mouse serum EVs loaded with Cer 24:1 induced cell senescence in bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells [177]. Furthermore, several functional effects have been attributed to the presence in EVs of lipid metabolizing enzymes such neutral ceramidase and neutral SMase [178,179]. EV proteins could also affect the function of recipient cells by changing their lipid metabolism. For example, it has recently been suggested that the viral protein Nef released in exosomes from HIV-infected cells may be responsible for impairment of CHOL metabolism in recipient cells [180]. This is an emerging topic and, considering the molecular complexity of EVs, it is not easy to attribute effects in the EV-receiving cells to a specific lipid. For additional information about this topic we refer to recent reviews [181,182].

# 5. Clinical uses of EVs

The interest in EVs has increased in recent years due to their potential clinical applications. In particular, EVs are currently being investigated as a new type of liquid biopsies and as novel drug carriers.

#### 5.1. The use of lipids in EVs as biomarkers

#### 5.1.1. Lipids in urinary EVs as biomarkers

Increasing evidence shows that EVs are involved in numerous pathological processes. The protein and nucleic acid content of EVs has been thoroughly studied in an attempt to identify diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers [4]. There are also a few studies that have analyzed the EV lipid profile to get insight in the lipid signature associated with specific diseases. Early studies during the period 2009-2012 indicated that urine could be a useful biofluid to look for lipid biomarkers [183-185]. In terms of EVs, we have compared the content of 36 lipid species of urinary EVs from 15 patients with prostate cancer and 13 healthy volunteers [88]. The results showed that specific lipid species could separate the two groups with high sensitivity (93%) and specificity (100%). The largest differences were observed for lactosylceramide d18:1/16:0, which was highest in the patient group, and PS 18:1/18:1, which was highest in the control group. However, no significant differences in lipid classes between the two groups were found. Thus, these data illustrate the importance of using MS analyses for lipid species quantification in clinical laboratories.

Yang et al. recently published lipidomic data for EVs in urine obtained from four prostate cancer patients and four healthy volunteers [186]. EV preparations obtained using flow field-flow fractionation were combined into one cancer sample and one healthy control sample before analysis. The size distribution of the two preparations was not reported, but the EVs from the cancer patients seem to be considerably larger than the EVs from the healthy volunteers. The lipid data were presented as the ratio obtained between patients and healthy volunteers (i.e. absolute quantification was not shown), and the large differences reported for the content of TAG and CE in the two samples indicates that at least one sample contains different types of vesicles/particles. In another recent study, the metabolomic content of urinary EVs of patients with stage 2 and 3 prostate cancer showed several Cer species that were significantly different between the two stages, but the differences were relatively small [187].

Very recently Glover et al. reported lipidomics of urinary exosomes from hereditary  $\alpha$ -tryptasemia patients and healthy volunteers [188]. The authors showed that both groups had EVs with a mean diameter of approximately 170 nm, and that twice as many EVs were excreted from the patients than from the controls. The results showed that 64 out of 521 lipid species from 19 lipid classes were significantly different in the vesicles obtained from the two groups; surprisingly among the 64 species there were 13 species of both TAG and CE. Remarkably, the 64 species reported to be significantly different in the two groups were found to be present in lower relative amounts in patients than in controls. The very high content of the 13 CE species and the very low amounts of the two SM species reported to be different between the two groups (low in both groups), differ considerably from data reported by others. In this study, it would have been very useful if an estimation of the amount of the various lipid classes had been provided.

#### 5.1.2. Lipids in EVs from other biofluids as biomarkers

During recent years several lipidomic studies of EVs obtained from other biological fluids than urine have been published. Thus, Tao et al. compared the lipid composition of serum EVs from 20 pancreatic cancer patients and healthy controls [189]. Importantly, PE 16:0/18:1 was shown to be associated with the tumor stage, and this lipid was also found to be significantly correlated with patient overall survival. A long list of other lipids was also stated to be present in different amounts in the two groups. It is difficult to evaluate these data because they are presented as relative signal intensities for the m/z signals detected, and many of these species are unusual, i.e. containing combinations of fatty acyl groups not assumed to be present in cellular membranes.

In addition, a recent publication reported the analysis of lipids in EVs isolated from plasma of multiple sclerosis patients and healthy volunteers. It has shown that sulfatides (a class of glycosphingolipids, sulfated galactosylceramide, highly expressed in brain) were found in these EVs, and a slightly higher level of sulfatide C16:0 was found in the EVs isolated from patient samples [190]. Finally, Hough et al. isolated EVs with a mean size diameter of approx. 150 nm from bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of asthmatics and healthy subjects, and reported that SM 34:1 (most likely SM d18:1/16:0) was more abundant in EVs from second-hand smoke exposure asthmatics compared to healthy controls [191]. The authors also listed nine other species to be present in different amounts in the two groups. Several of these species are surprising considering the fatty acyl groups expected to be present in human cells, and this list also includes mannosyl-di-PI-ceramide, i.e. the fungi specific glycosphingolipid mentioned above.

## 5.2. EVs in drug delivery

It has been a huge interest in using EVs for drug delivery in recent years. Much attention has been put on how to solve technical issues like obtaining large-scale preparations and making standardized protocols for EV purification and analyses. Although the study of EVs for drug delivery is in an early phase, it is important to consider how to document such complex products as EVs for market approval as drugs. We expect that it will be challenging to describe products containing thousands of different molecules and to demonstrate batch reproducibility.

In order to benefit from the learning in the EV field and to make products with a more simple composition than EVs, several groups have started to make liposomes, sometimes referred to as exosomeor EV-mimetics, based on specific molecular characteristics of EVs [192,193]. This can be an interesting approach, although it is challenging as long as we do not know which proteins and lipids on the surface of EVs are essential for a successful drug delivery. The importance of complex glycosphingolipids at the EV membranes for drug delivery is also unclear. For groups trying this approach, it is probably important that the lipid surface of the liposomes looks as similar as possible to the surface of EVs. When making symmetric liposomes this implies that lipid classes normally present in the inner leaflet (such as PS and PE) are not included. The best mimic of the lipids in the outer leaflet of EVs should probably be high levels of CHOL (30-40%) and more or less similar amounts of PC and SM. It should also be kept in mind that the most common PC species in cells contain one saturated and one monounsaturated fatty acyl group with 16 or 18C atoms, and that the most common SM and glycosphingolipid species contain C16:0, C24:0 and C24:1 as the N-amidated fatty acyl chains.

Several groups also try to make cell-derived vesicles by applying different forms of stress to cells, as larger amounts of such vesicles are easier to produce than exosomes (reviewed in [193]). We would like to mention that applying stress methods to cells or to load vesicles with drugs using stress methods such as sonication or extrusion, include the risk that the final preparation contains vesicles where the membrane is turned inside out.

#### 6. Conclusion and future perspectives

This review demonstrates the added value of performing quantitative lipid analyses in EV research. We stress the importance of describing all methodological details used to purify, isolate and analyze EVs such that the studies can be reproduced. Importantly, as a final quality control, it should also be checked that the lipids reported are likely to exist in the investigated species. In conclusion, reliable MS data are important for quantification of lipids both in cells and their EVs, as well as in recipient cells treated with EVs. Furthermore, MS analyses will allow us to further explore the potential use of EV lipids as biomarkers, and could also be helpful for the design of better carriers for drug delivery.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors have no competing interests to declare.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Norwegian Cancer Society, the Norwegian Research Council, and the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority.

#### References

- M. Yanez-Mo, et al., Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions, J. Extracell. Vesicles 4 (2015) 27066.
- [2] C. Thery, et al., Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines, J. Extracell. Vesicles 7 (1) (2018) 1535750.
- [3] K.W. Witwer, C. Thery, Extracellular vesicles or exosomes? On primacy, precision, and popularity influencing a choice of nomenclature, J. Extracell. Vesicles 8 (1) (2019) 1648167.
- [4] S. Fais, et al., Evidence-based clinical use of nanoscale extracellular vesicles in nanomedicine, ACS Nano 10 (4) (2016) 3886–3899.
- [5] J. Meldolesi, Exosomes and ectosomes in intercellular communication, Curr. Biol. 28 (8) (2018) R435–R444.
- [6] M. Colombo, G. Raposo, C. Thery, Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 30 (2014) 255–289.
- [7] M. Tkach, C. Thery, Communication by extracellular vesicles: where we are and where we need to go, Cell 164 (6) (2016) 1226–1232.
- [8] M. Vidal, Exosomes: revisiting their role as "garbage bags", Traffic 20 (11) (2019) 815–828.
- [9] S.L.N. Maas, X.O. Breakefield, A.M. Weaver, Extracellular vesicles: unique intercellular delivery vehicles, Trends Cell Biol. 27 (3) (2017) 172–188.
- [10] M. Mathieu, et al., Specificities of secretion and uptake of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles for cell-to-cell communication, Nat. Cell Biol. 21 (1) (2019) 9–17.
- [11] S. Caruso, I.K.H. Poon, Apoptotic cell-derived extracellular vesicles: more than just debris, Front. Immunol. 9 (2018) 1486.
- [12] G. van Niel, G. D'Angelo, G. Raposo, Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 19 (4) (2018) 213–228.
- [13] C. Thery, et al., Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids, Curr. Protoc. Cell Biol. 30 (1) (2006) 3.22.1–3.22.29.
- [14] K.W. Witwer, et al., Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research, J. Extracell. Vesicles 2 (1) (2013), 20360.
- [15] D.K. Jeppesen, et al., Reassessment of exosome composition, Cell 177 (2) (2019) 428–445(e18).
- [16] N.P. Hessvik, et al., PIKfyve inhibition increases exosome release and induces secretory autophagy, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 73 (24) (2016) 4717–4737.
- [17] B.W. Sodar, et al., Low-density lipoprotein mimics blood plasma-derived exosomes and microvesicles during isolation and detection, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 24316.
- [18] J. Kowal, et al., Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113 (8) (2016) E968–E977.
- [19] D.M. Pegtel, S.J. Gould, Exosomes, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 88 (2019) 487-514.
- [20] G. van Meer, D.R. Voelker, G.W. Feigenson, Membrane lipids: where they are and how they behave, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9 (2) (2008) 112–124.
- [21] A. Shevchenko, K. Simons, Lipidomics: coming to grips with lipid diversity, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 11 (8) (2010) 593–598.
- [22] H.R. Jung, et al., High throughput quantitative molecular lipidomics, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1811 (11) (2011) 925–934.
- [23] N. Nagan, R.A. Zoeller, Plasmalogens: biosynthesis and functions, Prog. Lipid Res. 40 (3) (2001) 199–229.
- [24] S. Wallner, G. Schmitz, Plasmalogens the neglected regulatory and scavenging lipid species, Chem. Phys. Lipids 164 (6) (2011) 573–589.
- [25] N.E. Braverman, A.B. Moser, Functions of plasmalogen lipids in health and disease, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1822 (9) (2012) 1442–1452.
- [26] T. Harayama, H. Riezman, Understanding the diversity of membrane lipid composition, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 19 (5) (2018) 281–296.
- [27] K. Hanada, Lipid transfer proteins rectify inter-organelle flux and accurately deliver lipids at membrane contact sites, J. Lipid Res. 59 (8) (2018) 1341–1366.
- [28] J.W. Park, W.J. Park, A.H. Futerman, Ceramide synthases as potential targets for therapeutic intervention in human diseases, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1841 (5) (2014) 671–681.
- [29] K. Sandvig, et al., Lipid requirements for entry of protein toxins into cells, Prog. Lipid Res. 54 (2014) 1–13.

- [30] J. Petter Slotte, Molecular properties of various structurally defined sphingomyelins - correlation of structure with function, Prog. Lipid Res. 52 (2) (2013) 206–219.
- [31] A.H. Merrill Jr., Sphingolipid and glycosphingolipid metabolic pathways in the era of sphingolipidomics, Chem. Rev. 111 (10) (2011) 6387–6422.
- [32] S. Kavaliauskiene, et al., Cell density-induced changes in lipid composition and intracellular trafficking, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 71 (6) (2014) 1097–1116.
- [33] A. Llorente, et al., Molecular lipidomics of exosomes released by PC-3 prostate cancer cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1831 (7) (2013) 1302–1309.
- [34] T. Skotland, K. Sandvig, The role of PS 18:0/18:1 in membrane function, Nat. Commun. 10 (1) (2019) 2752.
- [35] A. Poliakov, et al., Structural heterogeneity and protein composition of exosomelike vesicles (prostasomes) in human semen, Prostate 69 (2) (2009) 159–167.
- [36] D. Zabeo, et al., Exosomes purified from a single cell type have diverse morphology, J. Extracell. Vesicles 6 (1) (2017) 1329476.
- [37] C. Rentero, et al., Annexins-coordinators of cholesterol homeostasis in endocytic pathways, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19 (5) (2018), E1444.
- [38] L.M. Doyle, M.Z. Wang, Overview of extracellular vesicles, their origin, composition, purpose, and methods for exosome isolation and analysis, Cells 8 (7) (2019), E727.
- [39] M.I. Ramirez, et al., Technical challenges of working with extracellular vesicles, Nanoscale 10 (3) (2018) 881–906.
- [40] B. Burla, et al., MS-based lipidomics of human blood plasma: a communityinitiated position paper to develop accepted guidelines, J. Lipid Res. 59 (10) (2018) 2001–2017.
- [41] K.R. Johnson, G. Ellis, C. Toothill, The sulfophosphovanillin reaction for serum lipids: a reappraisal, Clin. Chem. 23 (9) (1977) 1669–1678.
- [42] E. Sezgin, T. Sadowski, K. Simons, Measuring lipid packing of model and cellular membranes with environment sensitive probes, Langmuir 30 (27) (2014) 8160–8166.
- [43] T.K. Fam, A.S. Klymchenko, M. Collot, Recent advances in fluorescent probes for lipid droplets, Materials (Basel) 11 (9) (2018), E1768.
- [44] N.P. Hessvik, A. Llorente, Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 75 (2) (2018) 193–208.
- [45] F. Baixauli, C. Lopez-Otin, M. Mittelbrunn, Exosomes and autophagy: coordinated mechanisms for the maintenance of cellular fitness, Front. Immunol. 5 (2014) 403.
- [46] J.M. Gudbergsson, K.B. Johnsen, Exosomes and autophagy: rekindling the vesicular waste hypothesis, J. Cell Commun. Signal. 13 (4) (2019) 443–450.
- [47] T. Skotland, et al., Exosomal lipid composition and the role of ether lipids and phosphoinositides in exosome biology, J. Lipid Res. 60 (1) (2019) 9–18.
- [48] R.J. Schulze, A. Sathyanarayan, D.G. Mashek, Breaking fat: The regulation and mechanisms of lipophagy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell. Biol. Lipids 1862 (10) (2017) 1178–1187.
- [49] K. Kounakis, et al., Emerging roles of lipophagy in health and disease, Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 7 (2019) 185.
- [50] M. Ouimet, et al., Autophagy regulates cholesterol efflux from macrophage foam cells via lysosomal acid lipase, Cell Metab. 13 (6) (2011) 655–667.
- [51] L. Wang, et al., Post-translational modifications of key machinery in the control of mitophagy, Trends Biochem. Sci. 45 (1) (2019) 58–75.
- [52] K. Palikaras, E. Lionaki, N. Tavernarakis, Mechanisms of mitophagy in cellular homeostasis, physiology and pathology, Nat. Cell Biol. 20 (9) (2018) 1013–1022.
- [53] L.L. Stoll, A.A. Spector, Changes in serum influence the fatty acid composition of established cell lines, In Vitro 20 (9) (1984) 732–738.
- [54] M. Holopainen, et al., Polyunsaturated fatty acids modify the extracellular vesicle membranes and increase the production of proresolving lipid mediators of human mesenchymal stromal cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell. Biol. Lipids 1864 (10) (2019) 1350–1362.
- [55] P.L. Wood, J.E. Cebak, Lipidomics biomarker studies: errors, limitations, and the future, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 504 (3) (2018) 569–575.
- [56] J.A. Bowden, et al., Harmonizing lipidomics: NIST interlaboratory comparison exercise for lipidomics using SRM 1950-metabolites in frozen human plasma, J. Lipid Res. 58 (12) (2017) 2275–2288.
- [57] M.R. Wenk, Lipidomics: new tools and applications, Cell 143 (6) (2010) 888-895.
- [58] K. Yang, X. Han, Accurate quantification of lipid species by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry - meet a key challenge in lipidomics, Metabolites 1 (1) (2011) 21–40.
- [59] M. Holcapek, G. Liebisch, K. Ekroos, Lipidomic analysis, Anal. Chem. 90 (7) (2018) 4249–4257.
- [60] J. Wang, C. Wang, X. Han, Tutorial on lipidomics, Anal. Chim. Acta 1061 (2019) 28-41.
- [61] T. Skotland, K. Sandvig, A. Llorente, Lipids in exosomes: current knowledge and the way forward, Prog. Lipid Res. 66 (2017) 30–41.
- [62] S. Phuyal, et al., The ether lipid precursor hexadecylglycerol stimulates the release and changes the composition of exosomes derived from PC-3 cells, J. Biol. Chem. 290 (7) (2015) 4225–4237.
- [63] E. Hosseini-Beheshti, et al., Exosomes as biomarker enriched microvesicles: characterization of exosomal proteins derived from a panel of prostate cell lines with distinct AR phenotypes, Mol. Cell. Proteomics 11 (10) (2012) 863–885.
- [64] R. Wubbolts, et al., Proteomic and biochemical analyses of human B cell-derived exosomes. Potential implications for their function and multivesicular body formation, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (13) (2003) 10963–10972.
- [65] K. Trajkovic, et al., Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes, Science 319 (5867) (2008) 1244–1247.
- [66] S. Chapuy-Regaud, et al., Characterization of the lipid envelope of exosome encapsulated HEV particles protected from the immune response, Biochimie 141 (2017) 70–79.

- [67] M. Vidal, et al., Asymmetric distribution of phospholipids in the membrane of vesicles released during in vitro maturation of guinea pig reticulocytes: evidence precluding a role for "aminophospholipid translocase", J. Cell. Physiol. 140 (3) (1989) 455–462.
- [68] M.J. Vidal, P.D. Stahl, The small GTP-binding proteins Rab4 and ARF are associated with released exosomes during reticulocyte maturation, Eur. J. Cell Biol. 60 (2) (1993) 261–267.
- [69] A. Pienimaeki-Roemer, et al., Lipidomic and proteomic characterization of platelet extracellular vesicle subfractions from senescent platelets, Transfusion 55 (3) (2015) 507–521.
- [70] M. Durcin, et al., Characterisation of adipocyte-derived extracellular vesicle subtypes identifies distinct protein and lipid signatures for large and small extracellular vesicles, J. Extracell. Vesicles 6 (1) (2017) 1305677.
- [71] X. Osteikoetxea, et al., Improved characterization of EV preparations based on protein to lipid ratio and lipid properties, PLoS One 10 (3) (2015), e0121184.
- [72] X. Osteikoetxea, et al., Differential detergent sensitivity of extracellular vesicle subpopulations, Org. Biomol. Chem. 13 (38) (2015) 9775–9782.
- [73] H. Zhang, et al., Identification of distinct nanoparticles and subsets of extracellular vesicles by asymmetric flow field-flow fractionation, Nat. Cell Biol. 20 (3) (2018) 332–343.
- [74] T.A. Lydic, et al., Rapid and comprehensive 'shotgun' lipidome profiling of colorectal cancer cell derived exosomes, Methods 87 (2015) 83–95.
- [75] R.A. Haraszti, et al., High-resolution proteomic and lipidomic analysis of exosomes and microvesicles from different cell sources, J. Extracell. Vesicles 5 (2016) 32570.
- [76] J.S. Brzozowski, et al., Lipidomic profiling of extracellular vesicles derived from prostate and prostate cancer cell lines, Lipids Health Dis. 17 (1) (2018) 211.
- [77] S. Valkonen, et al., Lipid mediators in platelet concentrate and extracellular vesicles: molecular mechanisms from membrane glycerophospholipids to bioactive molecules, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell. Biol. Lipids 1864 (8) (2019) 1168–1182.
- [78] K. Leidl, et al., Mass spectrometric analysis of lipid species of human circulating blood cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1781 (10) (2008) 655–664.
- [79] K. Ruebsaamen, et al., Lipidomic analysis of platelet senescence, Transfusion 50 (8) (2010) 1665–1676.
- [80] H. Roberg-Larsen, et al., Mass spectrometric detection of 27-hydroxycholesterol in breast cancer exosomes, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 169 (2017) 22–28.
- [81] F. Royo, et al., Differences in the metabolite composition and mechanical properties of extracellular vesicles secreted by hepatic cellular models, J. Extracell. Vesicles 8 (1) (2019) 1575678.
- [82] V.D. Dang, et al., Lipidomic and proteomic analysis of exosomes from mouse cortical collecting duct cells, FASEB J. 31 (12) (2017) 5399–5408.
- [83] S.E. Flaherty 3rd, et al., A lipase-independent pathway of lipid release and immune modulation by adipocytes, Science 363 (6430) (2019) 989–993.
- [84] J.F. Brouwers, et al., Distinct lipid compositions of two types of human prostasomes, Proteomics 13 (10–11) (2013) 1660–1666.
- [85] G. Arienti, et al., Fatty acid pattern of human prostasome lipid, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 358 (2) (1998) 391–395.
- [86] G. Arienti, et al., Lipid fatty acid and protein pattern of equine prostasome-like vesicles, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 128 (4) (2001) 661–666.
- [87] L.L. Piehl, et al., Biochemical characterization and membrane fluidity of membranous vesicles isolated from boar seminal plasma, Anim. Reprod. Sci. 92 (3–4) (2006) 401–410.
- [88] T. Skotland, et al., Molecular lipid species in urinary exosomes as potential prostate cancer biomarkers, Eur. J. Cancer 70 (2017) 122–132.
- [89] J. Huang, J.T. Buboltz, G.W. Feigenson, Maximum solubility of cholesterol in phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine bilayers, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1417 (1) (1999) 89–100.
- [90] N. Singhto, A. Vinaiphat, T. Visith, Discrimination of urinary exosomes from microvesicles by lipidomics using thin layer liquid chromatography (TLC) coupled with MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry, Sci. Rep. 9 (1) (2019) 13834.
- [91] R.W. Klemm, et al., Segregation of sphingolipids and sterols during formation of secretory vesicles at the trans-Golgi network, J. Cell Biol. 185 (4) (2009) 601–612.
- [92] J.T. Hannich, K. Umebayashi, H. Riezman, Distribution and functions of sterols and sphingolipids, Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3 (5) (2011) a004762.
- [93] S. Chen, et al., Lipidomic characterization of extracellular vesicles in human serum, J. Circ. Biomark. 8 (2019)1849454419879848.
- [94] T. Kobayashi, et al., A lipid associated with the antiphospholipid syndrome regulates endosome structure and function, Nature 392 (6672) (1998) 193–197.
- [95] W. Möbius, et al., Recycling compartments and the internal vesicles of multivesicular bodies harbor most of the cholesterol found in the endocytic pathway, Traffic 4 (4) (2003) 222–231.
- [96] K. Laulagnier, et al., Mast cell- and dendritic cell-derived exosomes display a specific lipid composition and an unusual membrane organization, Biochem. J. 380 (Pt 1) (2004) 161–171.
- [97] A.M. Miranda, et al., Neuronal lysosomal dysfunction releases exosomes harboring APP C-terminal fragments and unique lipid signatures, Nat. Commun. 9 (1) (2018) 291.
- [98] G. Di Paolo, P. De Camilli, Phosphoinositides in cell regulation and membrane dynamics, Nature 443 (7112) (2006) 651–657.
- [99] K.O. Schink, K.W. Tan, H. Stenmark, Phosphoinositides in control of membrane dynamics, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 32 (2016) 143–171.
- [100] C. Wang, et al., Comprehensive and quantitative analysis of polyphosphoinositide species by shotgun lipidomics revealed their alterations in db/db mouse brain, Anal. Chem. 88 (24) (2016) 12137–12144.
- [101] T.L. Steck, Y. Lange, Transverse distribution of plasma membrane bilayer cholesterol: picking sides, Traffic 19 (10) (2018) 750–760.

- [102] K. Segawa, S. Nagata, An apoptotic 'Eat Me' signal: phosphatidylserine exposure, Trends Cell Biol. 25 (11) (2015) 639–650.
- [103] A.M. Albanyan, et al., Measurement of phosphatidylserine exposure during storage of platelet concentrates using the novel probe lactadherin: a comparison study with annexin V, Transfusion 49 (1) (2009) 99–107.
- [104] J.G. Kay, S. Grinstein, Sensing phosphatidylserine in cellular membranes, Sensors (Basel) 11 (2) (2011) 1744–1755.
- [105] X. Wei, et al., Surface phosphatidylserine is responsible for the internalization on microvesicles derived from hypoxia-induced human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells into human endothelial cells, PLoS One 11 (1) (2016), e0147360.
- [106] R.C. Lai, et al., MSC secretes at least 3 EV types each with a unique permutation of membrane lipid, protein and RNA, J. Extracell. Vesicles 5 (2016) 29828.
- [107] Y.N. Gong, et al., Biological events and molecular signaling following MLKL activation during necroptosis, Cell Cycle 16 (19) (2017) 1748–1760.
- [108] A.M. Wehman, et al., The P4-ATPase TAT-5 inhibits the budding of extracellular vesicles in *C. elegans* embryos, Curr. Biol. 21 (23) (2011) 1951–1959.
- [109] P.A. Leventis, S. Grinstein, The distribution and function of phosphatidylserine in cellular membranes, Annu. Rev. Biophys. 39 (2010) 407–427.
- [110] H.M. Hankins, et al., Role of flippases, scramblases and transfer proteins in phosphatidylserine subcellular distribution, Traffic 16 (1) (2015) 35–47.
- [111] S. Matsumura, et al., Subtypes of tumour cell-derived small extracellular vesicles having differently externalized phosphatidylserine, J. Extracell. Vesicles 8 (1) (2019) 1579541.
- [112] Y.T. Kang, et al., Isolation and profiling of circulating tumor-associated exosomes using extracellular vesicular lipid-protein binding affinity based microfluidic device, Small 15 (47) (2019), e1903600.
- [113] T. Róg, et al., Interdigitation of long-chain sphingomyelin induces coupling of membrane leaflets in a cholesterol dependent manner, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1858 (2) (2015) 281–288.
- [114] J.H. Hurley, et al., Membrane budding, Cell 143 (6) (2010) 875-887.
- [115] C. Tricarico, J. Clancy, C. D'Souza-Schorey, Biology and biogenesis of shed microvesicles, Small GTPases 8 (4) (2017) 220–232.
- [116] H. Pollet, et al., Plasma membrane lipid domains as platforms for vesicle biogenesis and shedding? Biomolecules 8 (3) (2018), E94.
- [117] F.J. Verweij, et al., Quantifying exosome secretion from single cells reveals a modulatory role for GPCR signaling, J. Cell Biol. 217 (3) (2018) 1129–1142.
- [118] K. Simons, J.L. Sampaio, Membrane organization and lipid rafts, Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3 (10) (2011) a004697.
- [119] R. Ghossoub, et al., Syntenin-ALIX exosome biogenesis and budding into multivesicular bodies are controlled by ARF6 and PLD2, Nat. Commun. 5 (2014) 3477.
- [120] K. Laulagnier, et al., PLD2 is enriched on exosomes and its activity is correlated to the release of exosomes, FEBS Lett. 572 (1–3) (2004) 11–14.
- [121] A.L. Egea-Jimenez, P. Zimmermann, Phospholipase D and phosphatidic acid in the biogenesis and cargo loading of extracellular vesicles, J. Lipid Res. 59 (9) (2018) 1554–1560.
- [122] R. Alonso, et al., Diacylglycerol kinase alpha regulates the secretion of lethal exosomes bearing Fas ligand during activation-induced cell death of T lymphocytes, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (31) (2005) 28439–28450.
- [123] C. Mazzeo, et al., Protein kinase D1/2 is involved in the maturation of multivesicular bodies and secretion of exosomes in T and B lymphocytes, Cell Death Differ. 23 (1) (2016) 99–109.
- [124] D. Allan, R.H. Michell, Calcium ion-dependent diacylglycerol accumulation in erythrocytes is associated with microvesiculation but not with efflux of potassium ions, Biochem. J. 166 (3) (1977) 495–499.
- [125] P. Mayinger, Phosphoinositides and vesicular membrane traffic, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1821 (8) (2012) 1104–1113.
- [126] M. Fernandez-Borja, et al., Multivesicular body morphogenesis requires phosphatidyl-inositol 3-kinase activity, Curr. Biol. 9 (1) (1999) 55–58.
- [127] A. Arcaro, M.P. Wymann, Wortmannin is a potent phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitor - the role of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate in neutrophil responses, Biochem. J. 296 (1993) 297–301.
- [128] M. Komada, P. Soriano, Hrs, a FYVE finger protein localized to early endosomes, is implicated in vesicular traffic and required for ventral folding morphogenesis, Genes Dev. 13 (11) (1999) 1475–1485.
- [129] C.R. McNamara, A. Degterev, Small-molecule inhibitors of the PI3K signaling network, Future Med. Chem. 3 (5) (2011) 549–565.
- [130] E.F. Blommaart, et al., The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitors wortmannin and LY294002 inhibit autophagy in isolated rat hepatocytes, Eur. J. Biochem. 243 (1–2) (1997) 240–246.
- [131] E.M. Wenzel, et al., Concerted ESCRT and clathrin recruitment waves define the timing and morphology of intraluminal vesicle formation, Nat. Commun. 9 (1) (2018) 2932.
- [132] M. Colombo, et al., Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles, J. Cell Sci. 126 (Pt 24) (2013) 5553–5565.
- [133] A. Llorente, M.C. de Marco, M.A. Alonso, Caveolin-1 and MAL are located on prostasomes secreted by the prostate cancer PC-3 cell line, J. Cell Sci. 117 (Pt 22) (2004) 5343–5351.
- [134] A.G. Cashikar, P.I. Hanson, A cell-based assay for CD63-containing extracellular vesicles, PLoS One 14 (7) (2019), e0220007.
- [135] R. Bago, et al., Characterization of VPS34-IN1, a selective inhibitor of Vps34, reveals that the phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate-binding SGK3 protein kinase is a downstream target of class III phosphoinositide 3-kinase, Biochem. J. 463 (3) (2014) 413–427.

- [136] C.Y. Ho, T.A. Alghamdi, R.J. Botelho, Phosphatidylinositol-3,5-bisphosphate: no longer the poor PIP2, Traffic 13 (1) (2012) 1–8.
- [137] A.J. McCartney, Y. Zhang, L.S. Weisman, Phosphatidylinositol 3,5-bisphosphate: low abundance, high significance, Bioessays 36 (1) (2014) 52–64.
- [138] X. Li, et al., A molecular mechanism to regulate lysosome motility for lysosome positioning and tubulation, Nat. Cell Biol. 18 (4) (2016) 404–417.
- [139] X.P. Dong, et al., PI(3,5)P(2) controls membrane trafficking by direct activation of mucolipin Ca(2+) release channels in the endolysosome, Nat. Commun. 1 (2010) 38.
- [140] G. Li, et al., Control of lysosomal TRPML1 channel activity and exosome release by acid ceramidase in mouse podocytes, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 317 (3) (2019) C481-C491.
- [141] P.E. Glaser, R.W. Gross, Plasmenylethanolamine facilitates rapid membrane fusion: a stopped-flow kinetic investigation correlating the propensity of a major plasma membrane constituent to adopt an HII phase with its ability to promote membrane fusion, Biochemistry 33 (19) (1994) 5805–5812.
- [142] Y.A. Hannun, L.M. Obeid, Principles of bioactive lipid signalling: lessons from sphingolipids, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9 (2) (2008) 139–150.
- [143] R.N. Kolesnick, M. Kronke, Regulation of ceramide production and apoptosis, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 60 (1998) 643–665.
- [144] M. Mittelbrunn, et al., Unidirectional transfer of microRNA-loaded exosomes from T cells to antigen-presenting cells, Nat. Commun. 2 (2011) 282.
- [145] G. van Niel, et al., The tetraspanin CD63 regulates ESCRT-independent and -dependent endosomal sorting during melanogenesis, Dev. Cell 21 (4) (2011) 708–721.
- [146] S. Phuyal, et al., Regulation of exosome release by glycosphingolipids and flotillins, FEBS J. 281 (9) (2014) 2214–2227.
- [147] N. Kosaka, et al., Neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2)-dependent exosomal transfer of angiogenic MicroRNAs regulate cancer cell metastasis, J. Biol. Chem. 288 (15) (2013) 10849–10859.
- [148] L.L. Deng, et al., Imipramine protects against bone loss by inhibition of osteoblastderived microvesicles, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18 (5) (2017) E1013.
- [149] F. Bianco, et al., Acid sphingomyelinase activity triggers microparticle release from glial cells, EMBO J. 28 (8) (2009) 1043–1054.
- [150] Q. Cheng, et al., The ceramide pathway is involved in the survival, apoptosis and exosome functions of human multiple myeloma cells in vitro, Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 39 (4) (2018) 561–568.
- [151] E. Kakazu, et al., Hepatocytes release ceramide-enriched pro-inflammatory extracellular vesicles in an IRE1 alpha-dependent manner, J. Lipid Res. 57 (2) (2016) 233–245.
- [152] K. Yuyama, et al., Sphingolipid-modulated exosome secretion promotes the clearance of amyloid-beta by microglia, J. Biol. Chem. 287 (14) (2012) 10977–10989.
- [153] M. Fukushima, et al., StAR-related lipid transfer domain 11 (STARD11)-mediated ceramide transport mediates extracellular vesicle biogenesis, J. Biol. Chem. 293 (39) (2018) 15277–15289.
- [154] P. Hirsova, et al., Lipid-induced signaling causes release of inflammatory extracellular vesicles from hepatocytes, Gastroenterology 150 (4) (2016) 956–967.
- [155] T. Kajimoto, et al., Ongoing activation of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors mediates maturation of exosomal multivesicular endosomes, Nat. Commun. 4 (2013), 2712.
- [156] T. Kajimoto, et al., Involvement of G beta gamma subunits of G(i) protein coupled with S1P receptor on multivesicular endosomes in F-actin formation and cargo sorting into exosomes, J. Biol. Chem. 293 (1) (2018) 245–253.
- [157] J.H. Park, E.H. Schuchman, Acid ceramidase and human disease, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1758 (12) (2006) 2133–2138.
- [158] X. Yuan, et al., Endothelial acid ceramidase in exosome-mediated release of NLRP3 inflammasome products during hyperglycemia: Evidence from endotheliumspecific deletion of Asah1 gene, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids 1864 (12) (2019) 158532.
- [159] A. Elsherbini, E. Bieberich, Ceramide and exosomes: a novel target in cancer biology and therapy, Adv. Cancer Res. 140 (2018) 121–154.
- [160] C. Verderio, M. Gabrielli, P. Giussani, Role of sphingolipids in the biogenesis and biological activity of extracellular vesicles, J. Lipid Res. 59 (8) (2018) 1325–1340.
- [161] S.T. Yang, et al., The role of cholesterol in membrane fusion, Chem. Phys. Lipids 199 (2016) 136–143.
- [162] F.R. Maxfield, G. van Meer, Cholesterol, the central lipid of mammalian cells, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 22 (4) (2010) 422–429.
- [163] F.W. Pfrieger, N. Vitale, Cholesterol and the journey of extracellular vesicles, J. Lipid Res. 59 (12) (2018) 2255–2261.
- [164] S.K. Rodal, et al., Extraction of cholesterol with methyl-beta-cyclodextrin perturbs formation of clathrin-coated endocytic vesicles, Mol. Biol. Cell 10 (4) (1999) 961–974.
- [165] R. Zidovetzki, I. Levitan, Use of cyclodextrins to manipulate plasma membrane cholesterol content: evidence, misconceptions and control strategies, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1768 (6) (2007) 1311–1324.

- [166] S. Grimmer, et al., Endosome to Golgi transport of ricin is regulated by cholesterol, Mol. Biol. Cell 11 (12) (2000) 4205–4216.
- [167] M. Ying, et al., Cholesterol loading induces a block in the exit of VSVG from the TGN, Traffic 4 (11) (2003) 772–784.
- [168] A. Llorente, B. van Deurs, K. Sandvig, Cholesterol regulates prostasome release from secretory lysosomes in PC-3 human prostate cancer cells, Eur. J. Cell Biol. 86 (7) (2007) 405–415.
- [169] M. Ikeda, R. Longnecker, Cholesterol is critical for Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 2A trafficking and protein stability, Virology 360 (2) (2007) 461–468.
- [170] K. Strauss, et al., Exosome secretion ameliorates lysosomal storage of cholesterol in Niemann-Pick type C disease, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (34) (2010) 26279–26288.
- [171] I. Del Conde, et al., Tissue-factor-bearing microvesicles arise from lipid rafts and fuse with activated platelets to initiate coagulation, Blood 106 (5) (2005) 1604–1611.
- [172] L.J. Gonzalez, et al., The influence of membrane physical properties on microvesicle release in human erythrocytes, PMC Biophys. 2 (1) (2009) 7.
- [173] E. Sezgin, et al., The mystery of membrane organization: composition, regulation and roles of lipid rafts, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 18 (6) (2017) 361–374.
- [174] A. de Gassart, et al., Lipid raft-associated protein sorting in exosomes, Blood 102 (13) (2003) 4336–4344.
- [175] F.M. Platt, et al., Lysosomal storage diseases, Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers 54 (1) (2019) 34.
- [176] G. Wang, et al., Astrocytes secrete exosomes enriched with proapoptotic ceramide and prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR-4): potential mechanism of apoptosis induction in Alzheimer disease (AD), J. Biol. Chem. 287 (25) (2012) 21384–21395.
- [177] A. Khayrullin, et al., Very long-chain C24:1 ceramide is increased in serum extracellular vesicles with aging and can induce senescence in bone-derived mesenchymal stem cells, Cells 8 (1) (2019), E37.
- [178] M. Lin, et al., Exosomal neutral sphingomyelinase 1 suppresses hepatocellular carcinoma via decreasing the ratio of sphingomyelin/ceramide, FEBS J. 285 (20) (2018) 3835–3848.
- [179] S. Tang, et al., Neutral ceramidase secreted via exosome protects against palmitateinduced apoptosis in INS-1 cells, Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes 125 (2) (2017) 130–135.
- [180] N. Mukhamedova, et al., Exosomes containing HIV protein Nef reorganize lipid rafts potentiating inflammatory response in bystander cells, PLoS Pathog. 15 (7) (2019), e1007907.
- [181] M. Record, et al., Exosomes as new vesicular lipid transporters involved in cell-cell communication and various pathophysiologies, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1841 (1) (2014) 108–120.
- [182] K. Sagini, et al., Extracellular vesicles as conveyors of membrane-derived bioactive lipids in immune system, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19 (4) (2018), E1227.
- [183] P. Del Boccio, et al., A hyphenated microLC-Q-TOF-MS platform for exosomal lipidomics investigations: application to RCC urinary exosomes, Electrophoresis 33 (4) (2012) 689–696.
- [184] H.K. Min, et al., Shotgun lipidomics for candidate biomarkers of urinary phospholipids in prostate cancer, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 399 (2) (2011) 823–830.
- [185] H. Kim, et al., Quantitative analysis of phosphatidylcholines and phosphatidylethanolamines in urine of patients with breast cancer by nanoflow liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 393 (6–7) (2009) 1649–1656.
- [186] J.S. Yang, et al., Size dependent Lipidomic analysis of urinary exosomes from patients with prostate cancer by flow field-flow fractionation and nanoflow liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, Anal. Chem. 89 (4) (2017) 2488–2496.
- [187] M. Clos-Garcia, et al., Metabolic alterations in urine extracellular vesicles are associated to prostate cancer pathogenesis and progression, J. Extracell. Vesicles 7 (1) (2018) 1470442.
- [188] S.C. Glover, Lipidomic analysis of urinary exosomes from hereditary α-tryptasemia patients and healthy volunteers, FASEB Bioadv. 1 (10) (2019) 624–638.
- [189] L. Tao, et al., Metabolomics identifies serum and exosomes metabolite markers of pancreatic cancer, Metabolomics 15 (6) (2019) 86.
- [190] A.L. Moyano, et al., Sulfatides in extracellular vesicles isolated from plasma of multiple sclerosis patients, J. Neurosci. Res. 94 (12) (2016) 1579–1587.
- [191] K.P. Hough, et al., Unique lipid signatures of extracellular vesicles from the airways of asthmatics, Sci. Rep. 8 (1) (2018) 10340.
- [192] A.J. Vazquez-Rios, et al., Exosome-mimetic nanoplatforms for targeted cancer drug delivery, J. Nanobiotechnology 17 (1) (2019) 85.
- [193] S.G. Antimisiaris, S. Mourtas, A. Marazioti, Exosomes and exosome-inspired vesicles for targeted drug delivery, Pharmaceutics 10 (4) (2018), 218.